In The Iowa Supreme Court  
Supreme Court No. 17-1892

---

GREGORY HAWKINS,

Plaintiff-Appellee,

vs.

GRINNELL REGIONAL MEDICAL CENTER, DAVID NESS, and  
DEBRA NOWACHEK,

Defendants-Appellants.

---

Appeal from the District Court for Poweshiek County

The Honorable Randy S. DeGeest

---

Appellants' Final Brief

Oral Argument Requested

---

Mary E. Funk, AT0002666

Email: [mef@nyemaster.com](mailto:mef@nyemaster.com)

Randall D. Armentrout, AT0000543

Email: [rdarmentrout@nyemaster.com](mailto:rdarmentrout@nyemaster.com)

Debra Hulett, AT0003665

Email: [dlhulett@nyemaster.com](mailto:dlhulett@nyemaster.com)

David Bower, AT0009246

## Statement of Issues Presented for Review

This is a case about a plaintiff's burden of proof on claims of discrimination and retaliation under the Iowa Civil Rights Act ("ICRA"). Defendant-Appellant Grinnell Regional Medical Center ("GRMC" or "Hospital") terminated the employment of Plaintiff-Appellee Gregg Hawkins, the manager of the Hospital's laboratory ("Lab"). At trial, Defendants presented evidence Hawkins's poor job performance was the reason the Hospital terminated his employment. Hawkins presented evidence that his age (61), disability (cancer survivor), and retaliation (treatment by management following his leave of absence), were "motivating factors" in the termination. After trial, a jury returned a verdict in Hawkins's favor on all claims, against all Defendants, and awarded \$4.28 million in emotional-distress damages and \$222,000 in lost wages. The questions presented on this appeal are:

1. Did the district court err in refusing to instruct the jury that it must find for the Hospital if the evidence showed it would

have made the “same decision” regardless of Hawkins’s age, cancer status, and engaging in protected activity?

Alcala v. Marriott Int’l, Inc., 880 N.W.2d 699 (Iowa 2016)  
Boelman v. Manson State Bank, 522 N.W.2d 73 (Iowa 1994)  
DeBoom v. Raining Rose, Inc., 772 N.W.2d 1 (Iowa 2009)  
Goethals v. Mueller, No. 98-1556, 1999 WL 1020545 (Iowa Ct. App. Nov. 10, 1999)  
Gross v. FBL Fin. Group, Inc., 489 F. App’x 971 (8th Cir. 2012)  
Gross v. FBL Fin. Servs., Inc., 588 F.3d 614 (8th Cir. 2009)  
Hasan v. U.S. Dep’t of Labor, 400 F.3d 1001 (7th Cir. 2005)  
Haskenhoff v. Homeland Energy Solutions, LLC, 897 N.W.2d 553 (Iowa 2017)  
Herbst v. State, 616 N.W.2d 582 (Iowa 2000)  
Holmes v. Marriott Corp., 831 F. Supp. 691 (S.D. Iowa 1993)  
Hy-Vee Food Stores, Inc. v. Iowa Civil Rights Comm’n, 453 N.W.2d 512 (Iowa 1990)  
Kull v. Kutztown Univ. of Penn., 543 F. App’x 244 (3d Cir. 2013)  
Landals v. George A. Rolfes Co., 454 N.W.2d 891 (Iowa 1990)  
McQuiston v. City of Clinton, 872 N.W.2d 817 (Iowa 2015)  
Merritt v. Iowa Dep’t Transp., No. 03-0858, 2004 WL 434143 (Iowa Ct. App. Mar. 10, 2004)  
Miller v. Davenport Cmty. Sch. Dist., No. 99-0650, 2000 WL 210292 (Iowa Ct. App. Feb. 23, 2000)  
Mt. Healthy City Sch. Dist. v. Doyle, 429 U.S. 274 (1977)  
Plato v. Anderson Erickson Dairy Co., No. 17-0222, 2017 WL 3283392 (Iowa Ct. App. Aug. 2, 2017)  
Price Waterhouse v. Hopkins, 490 U.S. 228 (1989)  
Remlinger v. Nevada, No. 98-17079, 2000 WL 285426 (9th Cir. Mar. 15, 2000)  
Ritz v. Wapello Cty. Bd. Supervisors, No. 01-0765, 2002 WL 1841571 (Iowa Ct. App. Aug. 14, 2002)  
Shams v. Hassan, 905 N.W.2d 158 (Iowa 2017)

Sommers v. Iowa Civil Rights Comm'n, 337 N.W.2d 470 (Iowa 1983)

Valline v. Murken, No. 02-0843, 2003 WL 21361344 (Iowa Ct. App.  
Jun. 13, 2003)

Wyangarden v. State, No. 13-0863, 2014 WL 4230192 (Iowa Ct. App.  
Aug. 27, 2014)

42 U.S.C. § 2000e-2(m)

42 U.S.C. § 2000e-5(g)(2)(B)

Eighth Circuit Model Civil Jury Instruction 5.10 (2014)

Iowa Code § 216.6(1)(a) (Iowa 2017)

Iowa Code § 216.11(2) (Iowa 2017)

Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.924

2. Did the district court err in instructing the jury it could award emotional-distress damages for any “wrongful conduct” during Hawkins’s employment, (even outside the applicable statute of limitations), not just emotional distress caused by the termination?

Ackelson v. Manley Toy Direct, L.L.C., 832 N.W.2d 678 (Iowa 2013)

Bellach v. IMT Ins. Co., 573 N.W.2d 903 (Iowa 1998)

Brant v. Bockholt, 532 N.W.2d 801 (Iowa 1995)

City of Hampton v. Iowa Civil Rights Comm'n, 554 N.W.2d 532  
(Iowa 1996)

DeBoom v. Raining Rose, Inc., 772 N.W.2d 1 (Iowa 2009)

Dindinger v. Allsteel, Inc., 860 N.W.2d 557 (Iowa 2015)

Dutcher v. Randall Foods, 546 N.W.2d 889 (Iowa 1996)

Farmland Foods, Inc. v. Dubuque Human Rights Comm'n, 672  
N.W.2d 733 (Iowa 2003)

McElroy v. State, 637 N.W.2d 488 (Iowa 2001)

McElroy v. State, 703 N.W.2d 385 (Iowa 2005)

Northrup v. Farmland Indus., Inc., 372 N.W.2d 193 (Iowa 1985)

Quillen v. Lessenger, 181 N.W. 8 (Iowa 1921)

Rivera v. Woodward Res. Ctr., 865 N.W.2d 887 (Iowa 2015)  
Scurlock v. City of Boone, 120 N.W. 313 (Iowa 1909)  
Shams v. Hassan, 905 N.W.2d 158 (Iowa 2017)  
Simon Seeding & Sod v. Dubuque Human Rights Comm'n, 895  
N.W.2d 446 (Iowa 2017)  
Waits v. United Fire & Cas. Co., 572 N.W.2d 565 (Iowa 1997)  
Eighth Circuit Model Civil Jury Instruction 6.70 (2017)  
Iowa Code § 216.15(9)(a)(8) (Iowa 2017)  
Iowa Code § 216.15(13) (Iowa 2017)  
Iowa Code § 216.16(6) (Iowa 2017)  
Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.924

3. Is a \$4.28 million award for emotional distress, to a plaintiff who did not seek or receive medical treatment for any symptoms of emotional distress, excessive under Iowa law?

City of Hampton v. Iowa Civil Rights Comm'n, 554 N.W.2d 532  
(Iowa 1996)  
Ferris v. Riley, 101 N.W.2d 176 (Iowa 1960)  
Foster v. Time Warner Entm't Co., 250 F.3d 1189 (8th Cir. 2001)  
Frazier v. Iowa Beef Processors, Inc., 200 F.3d 1190 (8th Cir. 2000)  
Fry v. Blauvelt, 818 N.W.2d 123 (Iowa 2012)  
Goettelman v. Stoen, 182 N.W.2d 415 (Iowa 1970)  
Jasper v. H. Nizam, Inc., 764 N.W.2d 751 (Iowa 2009)  
Kim v. Nash Finch Co., 123 F.3d 1046 (8th Cir. 1997)  
Kucia v. Southeast Arkansas Cmty. Action Corp., 284 F.3d 944 (8th  
Cir. 2002)  
Mathieu v. Gopher News Co., 273 F.3d 769 (8th Cir. 2001)  
Rees v. O'Malley, 461 N.W.2d 833 (Iowa 1990)  
Rosenberger Enters., Inc. v. Ins. Serv. Corp., 541 N.W.2d 904 (Iowa Ct.  
App. 1995)



Russell v. Chicago, Rock Island & Pac. R.R. Co., 86 N.W.2d 843 (Iowa 1957)

Sallis v. Lamansky, 420 N.W.2d 795 (Iowa 1988)

Shepard v. Wapello Cnty., Iowa, 303 F. Supp. 2d 1004 (S.D. Iowa 2003)

Simon Seeding & Sod v. Dubuque Human Rights Comm'n, 895 N.W.2d 446 (Iowa 2017)

Vetter v. State, No. 16-0208, 2017 WL 2181191 (Iowa Ct. App. May 17, 2017)

White v. Walstrom, 118 N.W.2d 578 (Iowa 1962)

WSH Props., L.L.C. v. Daniels, 761 N.W.2d 45 (Iowa 2008)

Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.1004

4. Did the district court abuse its discretion in admitting evidence of hearsay notes from Hawkins's friends and family, gruesome photos of cancer treatment taken when Hawkins was on medical leave, and the CEO's salary?

Beane v. Utility Trailer Mfg. Co., No. 2:10 CV 0781, 2013 WL 12183533 (W.D. La. Mar. 6, 2013)

Blake v. Clein, 903 So.2d 710 (Miss. 2005)

Burke v. Deere & Co., 6 F.3d 497 (8th Cir. 1993)

Burke v. Reiter, 42 N.W.2d 907 (Iowa 1950)

Campbell v. Keystone Aerial Surveys, Inc., 138 F.3d 996 (5th Cir. 1998)

Cvitanovich v. Bromberg, 151 N.W. 1073 (Iowa 1915)

Escobar v. Airbus Helicopters SAS, No. 13-00598 HG-RLP, 2016 WL 6080612 (D. Haw. Oct. 5, 2016)

Estate of Long v. Broadlawns Med. Ctr., 656 N.W.2d 71 (Iowa 2002)

Gacke v. Pork Xtra, L.L.C., 684 N.W.2d 168 (Iowa 2004)

Goettelman v. Stoen, 182 N.W.2d 415 (Iowa 1970)

Gomaco Corp. v. Faith, 550 So.2d 482 (Fl. Dist. Ct. App. 1989)  
Graber v. City of Ankeny, 616 N.W.2d 633 (Iowa 2000)  
Hall v. Montgomery Ward & Co., 252 N.W.2d 421 (Iowa 1977)  
Kelly v. Al-Qulali, No. 05-2143, 2007 WL 108462 (Iowa Ct. App. Jan. 18, 2007)  
McClure v. Walgreen Co., 613 N.W.2d 225 (Iowa 2000)  
State v. Cromer, 765 N.W.2d 1 (Iowa 2009)  
State v. Dullard, 668 N.W.2d 585 (Iowa 2003)  
State v. Mitchell, 450 N.W.2d 828 (Iowa 1990)  
Thompson v. Kaczinski, 774 N.W.2d 829 (Iowa 2009)  
Winger v. CM Holdings, L.L.C., 881 N.W.2d 433 (Iowa 2016)  
Wright v. Tatham, 112 Eng. Rep. 488 (Ex. Ch. 1837)  
Iowa Code § 216.15(9)(a)(8) (Iowa 2017)  
Iowa R. Evid. 5.103(a)  
Iowa R. Evid. 5.402  
Iowa R. Evid. 5.801(c)  
Iowa R. Evid. 5.802

5. Did Plaintiff's counsel's misconduct in closing argument, by violating the "golden rule" and asking the jury to punish Defendants, inflame the jury with passion and unfair prejudice?

Ackelson v. Manley Toy Direct, L.L.C., 832 N.W.2d 678 (Iowa 2013)  
Andrews v. Struble, 178 N.W.2d 391 (Iowa 1970)  
Cardamon v. Iowa Lutheran Hosp., 128 N.W.2d 226 (Iowa 1964)  
Conn v. Alfstad, No. 10-1171, 2011 WL 1566005 (Iowa Ct. App. Apr. 27, 2011)  
Dindinger v. Allsteel, Inc., 860 N.W.2d 557 (Iowa 2015)  
Foods, Inc. v. Iowa Civil Rights Comm'n, 318 N.W.2d 162 (Iowa 1982)  
Fry v. Blauvelt, 818 N.W.2d 123 (Iowa 2012)  
Gilster v. Primebank, 747 F.3d 1007 (8th Cir. 2014)  
Jackowitz v. Lang, 975 A.2d 531 (N.J. Super. Ct. App. Div. 2009)

Monsanto Co. v. Spray-Rite Serv. Corp., 465 U.S. 752 (1984)  
Moody v. Ford Motor Co., 506 F. Supp. 2d 823 (N.D. Okla. 2007)  
R.J. Reynolds Tobacco Co. v. Gafney, 188 So.3d 53 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2016)  
Rosenberger Enters., Inc. v. Ins. Serv. Corp., 541 N.W.2d 904 (Iowa Ct. App. 1995)  
Russell v. Chicago, Rock Island & Pac. R.R. Co., 86 N.W.2d 843 (Iowa 1957)  
Spray-Rite Serv. Corp. v. Monsanto Co., 684 F.2d 1226 (7th Cir. 1982)  
State v. Greene, 592 N.W.2d 24 (Iowa 1999)  
State v. Melk, 543 N.W.2d 297 (Iowa Ct. App. 1995)  
State v. Musser, 721 N.W.2d 734 (Iowa 2006)  
State v. Phillips, 226 N.W.2d 16 (Iowa 1975)  
Wilson v. IBP, Inc., 558 N.W.2d 132 (Iowa 1996)  
Iowa Code § 216.15(9)(a)(8) (Iowa 2017)  
Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.1004

## Routing Statement

In Haskenhoff v. Homeland Energy Solutions, LLC, 897 N.W.2d 553 (Iowa 2017), the Supreme Court enunciated that a plaintiff's trial burden in ICRA employment retaliation cases, like discrimination cases, is to prove a plaintiff's exercise of protected conduct was a "motivating factor" in the employer's decision to terminate. The Court did not address whether application of the "motivating-factor" standard for both discrimination and retaliation cases requires a jury instruction allowing an employer to prove it would have made the "same decision" regardless of the protected class status or protected activity when there is evidence of legitimate reasons for the termination. In the present case, the district court refused to give the "same-decision" instruction, instead instructing the jury that it may find for Plaintiff if the protected conduct or a protected characteristic only "played a part" in the termination.

This case presents a substantial question of enunciating or changing legal principles. See Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(2)(f). Guidance

from the Iowa Supreme Court is needed for the district courts and counsel handling employment discrimination and retaliation cases.

### **Statement of the Case**

Defendants, GRMC, David Ness, and Debra Nowachek appeal from a \$4.5 million jury verdict in favor of Gregg Hawkins on his ICRA claim relating to the termination of his employment.

GRMC operates an 81-bed, non-profit hospital in Grinnell, Iowa, employing approximately 400 people. (JA-I 1050-1051 [33:13-34:9]). At all relevant times, Todd Linden was the Hospital's CEO, Ness was the Hospital's Vice President of Operations, and Nowachek was the Human Resources Director. (JA-I 438 [66:4-5], 965 [227:8-10], 1095 [78:10-12]). Hawkins was employed as the Hospital's Laboratory Director until June 3, 2015, when his employment was terminated. (JA-I 14-23).

On February 4, 2016, Hawkins initiated this lawsuit, alleging the termination of his employment was the result of illegal discrimination (age and disability) and retaliation. (JA-I 14-23).

The case was tried to a jury July 11-24, 2017. (JA-I 2916). After deliberating less than ninety minutes, the jury returned a verdict in Hawkins's favor on all claims against all Defendants. The jury awarded \$222,009.68 in backpay, \$2,000,000 for past emotional distress, and \$2,280,000 for future emotional distress. (JA-I 2132-2134).

On August 8, 2017, Defendants filed a motion for new trial and remittitur of damages under Iowa Rule of Civil Procedure 1.1004(1), (2), (4), (6), and (8). (JA-I 2148-2186). On August 9, 2017, Hawkins filed a bill of costs. (Bill of Costs). On September 5, 2017, Hawkins moved for equitable relief and attorneys' fees, which Defendants resisted. (JA-I 2256-2517, 2573-2666).

In an October 26, 2017 ruling, the district court denied Defendants' motion for new trial. (JA-I 2914-2922). The district court

awarded Hawkins \$241,746.46 in front pay through December 31, 2019, and attorneys' fees of \$615,208.33.<sup>1</sup> (JA-I 2923-2929).

On November 22, 2017, Defendants filed a notice of appeal. (JA-I 2950-2952).

### **Statement of the Facts**

#### **A. Hawkins's employment with the Hospital.**

In 1976, the Hospital hired Hawkins as a laboratory "bench tech." (JA-I 15, 1248 [231:4-19], 1279 [9:14-18]). In 1985, the Hospital named him laboratory director. (JA-I 15, 1279-1280 [9:19-10:7]). As laboratory director, Hawkins was accountable for daily operations of the laboratory, histology, and mobile services. (JA-II 298-305). For most of Hawkins's employment, an off-site contract pathologist served as the Lab's medical director. (JA-I 528 [156:7-23], 709-710 [177:17-178:7]).

---

<sup>1</sup> The district court later awarded Hawkins \$45,963.57 in fees for post-trial motions.

**B. The Hospital received physician complaints about the Lab and Hawkins.**

Dr. Ronald Collins joined the medical staff at the Hospital in April 2011. (JA-I 1868 [131:10-14]). Dr. Collins practices in internal medicine, became the president-elect of the medical staff in 2013, and the president in 2015. (JA-I 1869-1871 [132:19-134:20]). In 2012, Dr. Collins began documenting issues with the Lab and Hawkins's management, which continued through 2014, as evidenced in a series of emails. (JA-III 337-425). Issues included delays in receiving lab cultures, delays in receiving lab reports, and issues with obtaining historical lab results. (JA-I 1879-1880 [142:17-143:18]).

One of Dr. Collins's paramount concerns was the Lab failing to report critical lab values in patients' cultures to providers in a timely manner, or even at all. (JA-I 1880 [143:17-18]). On October 18, 2012, Dr. Collins met with Hawkins regarding these issues, but the issues continued. (JA-I 1879 [142:17-24], 1880-1904 [143:25-167:19]).

Other providers, such as Dr. Lauren Graham and Dr. Michelle Rebelsky, testified about similar concerns in 2013 and 2014. (JA-I 1729



[229:13-14], 1775 [38:8-13], 1778-1782 [41:23-45:5], 1783-1800 [46:21-63:24], 1838-1839 [101:15-102:13]). On February 19, 2013, the Medical Executive Committee met with Hawkins to discuss his failure to timely communicate lab culture results to physicians. (JA-I 1896-1897 [159:9-160:21]). The Committee “counseled [Hawkins] to address physician issues by putting action plans in place when issues have been identified.” (JA-I 1897 [160:19-21]). According to Dr. Collins, “a lot of people lost trust” in the Lab and a few providers in the area stopped using the Lab. (JA-I 1904 [167:15-16]).

Dr. Rebelsky, a family-practice physician in Grinnell, reported she and “everybody” had concerns with the Lab in 2013-2014. (JA-I 1729 [229:13-14]). One concern involved a standard test given to a newborn baby to measure the level of bilirubin in the baby’s blood. If the level is too high, it can cause brain damage. (JA-I 1838-1839 [101:15-102:3]). Although it takes 45 minutes to run the sample for a bilirubin test, the Lab would sometimes take two or three hours to obtain the results. (JA-I 1839 [102:10-13]). This delay also delayed the

decision of whether or not the baby needed to be admitted to the hospital. Id.

By July 21, 2013, Hawkins's supervisor, Suzanne Cooner, decided to put together an action plan for Hawkins and the Lab.

Cooner sent an email to Hawkins stating:

At the clinic providers meeting last Thursday night the lab was identified as a source of frustration . . . I need to talk to you before I leave on vacation to come up with an action plan. The negativity toward lab is getting more widespread and I need to understand it and we need to come up with an action plan together....

(JA-III 426-427).

**C. Hawkins's cancer diagnosis and treatment, and the Hospital's accommodations.**

In November 2013, Hawkins was diagnosed with Stage III breast cancer. (JA-I 15, 1260-1261 [9:14-10:5]; JA-II 906; JA-III 241-242).

On December 4, 2013, Hawkins underwent a left breast surgical mastectomy, followed by chemotherapy treatment and radiation. (JA-I 15, 17; JA-II 906; JA-III 243-248, 251-254, 278-281). Hawkins took medical leave under the Hospital's policies and the Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA). (JA-I 15-16; JA-III 306).

Hawkins remained off work on FMLA until March 19, 2014, when Hawkins's treating oncologist released him to work with a four hours per day restriction. (JA-I 15; JA-II 914). Hawkins continued to use FMLA for partial-day absences through May 17, 2014. (JA-I 15-16). After Hawkins exhausted his FMLA leave, the Hospital granted him thirty days' additional leave. (JA-I 15-16, 459 [87:3-9], 460 [88:1-5], 477 [105:11-16]). At this point, Hawkins had exhausted all possible medical leave, but his doctor had not released him to return to work full time. Id.

On June 2, 2014, Linden, Ness, and Nowachek met with Hawkins to discuss when Hawkins could return to work on a full-time basis. (JA-I 16, 465 [93:6-12]). Hawkins reported that his part-time restriction was indefinite, but he hoped to return full time by year-end. (JA-I 669 [71:4-15]).

After weighing the options, the Hospital determined it could not continue employing Hawkins in a part-time role indefinitely. (JA-I 458-460 [86:16-88:5], 1064 [47:8-21]). Based on Hawkins's inability to

perform an essential function of the laboratory director job (work full time), the Hospital offered Hawkins the option of resignation, in lieu of involuntary termination, and discussed characterizing the resignation as retirement. (JA-I 458-459 [86:16-87:18], 465-466 [93:24-94:7], 669 [71:4-15]). At that time, Hawkins did not make a decision. (JA-II 891-893).

On June 11, 2014, Hawkins sent Ness an email proposing they allow Hawkins to return to work in six months. (JA-I 17; JA-II 895-897). On June 12, 2014, Ness sent an email to Nowachek and Linden stating: "We have a problem." (JA-II 894). Nowachek responded: "He's going to make us term him." (JA-II 894). At trial, Hawkins's counsel branded these internal emails, not seen by Hawkins, as the smoking gun evidence of retaliation.

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