#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

### SUPREME COURT NO. 17-1892 POWESHIEK COUNTY NO. LALA002281

### GREGORY HAWKINS, Plaintiff-Appellee

VS.

# GRINNELL REGIONAL MEDICAL CENTER, DAVID NESS and DEBRA NOWACHEK, Defendants-Appellants

Appeal from the District Court for Poweshiek County The Honorable Randy S. DeGeest

## PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE'S FINAL BRIEF AND REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

Brooke Timmer AT0008821
brooke@timmerjudkins.com
Katie Ervin Carlson AT0008958
katie@timmerjudkins.com
TIMMER & JUDKINS, P.L.L.C.
2829 Westown Parkway, Suite 335
West Des Moines, Iowa 50266
Telephone: (515) 259-7462
Facsimile: (515) 361-5390

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE

# **

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

Defendants contend Gregg's emotional distress must not have been important because he did not undergo medical treatment; however, the jury rejected this argument. This was reasonable in light of jurors' personal experiences with losses that counseling or medication cannot fix. In addition, Dr. Champion explained that treatment only works one-third of the time. (App. I 1418:13-1419:12). Defendants did not call an expert witness to question any of Dr. Champion's conclusions.

"The verdict was within the evidence. The jury has spoken. The parties had a fair trial. The court may not arbitrarily substitute its opinion for the conclusion of the jury." *Lantz v. Cook*, 127 N.W.2d 675, 677 (Iowa 1964).

## 2. The gravity of Plaintiff's emotional distress is directly related to Defendants' particularly cruel conduct

In addition to detailed evidence about Gregg's emotional distress, the depth of his pain was also apparent from the nature of the wrongs themselves. *See Carey*, 435 U.S. at 264-65. Defendants fired Gregg because of characteristics over which he had no control (his age and cancer), and because he stood up for himself. Defendants began their campaign of discrimination and retaliation when Gregg was literally fighting for his life. They lied to him and to everyone else about why they did it. Such scheming and betrayal by people one trusts leaves permanent scars.

Gregg's emotional distress can be understood only in the context of the civil rights violations from which it arose. Gregg would not have been nearly as damaged if he had lost his job because, for instance, the hospital closed its lab. Much of his damages come from the fact that managers whom he trusted turned on him and brazenly violated his rights, falsely claiming his performance had declined, and causing him to doubt himself, lose confidence, and work even harder. *See* App. II 951-956, 966.

Civil rights violations cause a special kind of anguish:

The right which is violated by an employer which discriminates on the basis of a protected characteristic is not the employee's right to the job, but the employee's right to equal, fair, and impartial treatment, the violation of which frequently results in a significant injury to the victim's dignity and a demoralizing impairment to his or her self-esteem.

Mardell v. Harleysville Life Ins. Co., 31 F.3d 1221, 1232-33 (3d Cir. 1994) (vacated in part on other grounds, 65 F.3d 1072 (3d Cir. 1995)). "A victim of discrimination suffers a dehumanizing injury as real as, and often of far more severe and lasting harm than, a blow to the jaw." Id.; see also U.S. v. Burke, 504 U.S. 229, 238 (1992) (illegal discrimination in employment is "an invidious practice that causes grave harm to its victims.").

Gregg's exceptionally long tenure with GRMC also drove the damage award. In her closing argument, Gregg's attorney spoke about Gregg's legacy with GRMC and how he cherished his memories from working at the hospital. "But now those memories are tainted by the way in which things ended. You heard the gifts he would painstakingly give each year for his employees, the friendships he cherished, the significance of his contributions of both time and money—diminished and reduced in value because of their actions." (App. I 2016:2-7). "What is it worth now to look upon these memories with sadness?" (App. I 2016:15-16).

When Gregg lost his job, he did not lose four additional years of productivity before he retired. He retroactively lost something he thought he had earned over the previous 39 years—a fulfilling career with an ethical employer who cared about him and treated him with dignity. Gregg lost the deep, abiding satisfaction of having devoted his life to a cause that was worthy of all his sacrifices.

Defendants inexplicably refer to this as a "single-incident case." Def. Brief, 75. That ignores the 39-year history between the parties, as well as the overwhelming "evidence of retaliatory actions taken against the Plaintiff by the Defendants over an extended period of time in an effort to fire the Plaintiff for justifiable reasons." Ruling New Trial, 4. During the year before Gregg was actually fired, Defendants "set him up." They manufactured and exaggerated performance problems and repeatedly lied to Gregg and about Gregg. *See, e.g.* App. II 951-956, 966-973.

# 3. Attempting comparisons to other verdicts is not particularly valuable

This Court has "pointed out many times that comparison of verdicts in different cases is not helpful in determining the propriety of an award in a given case—each must be determined upon the evidence therein." *Wagaman v. Ryan*, 142 N.W.2d 413, 420 (Iowa 1966). After all, even if it was possible to find a factually identical case, it would be impossible to know which jury pinpointed the "right" amount of damages. *Cuevas*, 144 A.3d at 905.

Defendants list various cases to support their argument that the jury's verdict was excessive. The diversity of facts in each of those cases underscores that the facts of each unique case must drive evaluation of the jury's award. While any exact comparisons to other cases are impossible, multi-million-dollar results are not terribly unusual in civil rights cases. Not surprisingly, the most egregious cases are

more likely to settle before trial—let alone before an appellate decision is reported.

Nevertheless, there are a few comparable cases in the public record that the Court may consider:

- ➤ The jury in *Anderson v. State*, No. LACL131321 (Polk County 2017) valued a woman's emotional distress suffered on account of sexual harassment and retaliation at \$2,195,000.
- After a jury verdict that included \$1,056,000 in emotional distress damages for one plaintiff, the University of Iowa paid \$6.5 million to settle *Greisbaum & Meyer v. State*, Nos. LACL134713 and LACL133931 (Polk County 2017) for claims of gender and sexual orientation discrimination, as well as retaliation.
- ➤ A local police department paid \$1,900,000 to settle a case involving gender discrimination, harassment, and retaliation against a female sergeant in Zaglauer v. City of West Des Moines, LACL 132694 (Polk County 2016).
- A central Iowa jury decided a woman who was sexually harassed endured past and future emotional distress valued at \$1,800,000. *Renneger v. Manley Toy Direct, LLC*, 4:10-cv-00400, (S.D. Iowa 2015).
- ➤ A nursing home paid \$4 million to settle the sex discrimination, harassment, and retaliation case of a West Des Moines woman who had been its Chief Operating Officer. *See Iowa Supreme Court Attorney Disciplinary Bd. v. Stowers*, 823 N.W.2d 1, 5 (Iowa 2012).
- ➤ A Polk County jury found an Ames woman sustained over \$2.5 million in emotional distress damages as a result of sexual harassment, discrimination and retaliation. *McElroy v. State*, CL 74459 (Polk County 2003).

In the end, comparison of verdicts is of limited value. "Our legal system has not attempted to set schedules of presumptive awards for various types of injuries, and a court cannot and should not do that under the guise of determining 'comparability." Zurba v. United States, 247 F. Supp. 2d 951, 962 (N.D. Ill. 2001). The trial court was required to judge this verdict on its own merits—on the evidence presented in the courtroom—and not by comparing it to fact patterns in other cases where it did not see the witnesses and hear the evidence. There is no indication the trial court abused its considerable discretion.

Even as this Court reads the facts of this case on paper, it must keep in mind that that is not the way the jury learned what happened. The Court is necessarily missing key aspects of the evidentiary presentation that cannot be captured in words:

Summaries cannot compare to what a jury hears from a witness on the stand; to the timbre of a voice that recalls the emotional cuts and slashes felt from . . . discrimination; to in-depth descriptions of daily workplace humiliations that mentally beat down an employee; and to first-hand accounts of mental anguish—anguish that leads to depression and frays personal relationships.

Cuevas, 144 A.3d at 905.

Relying on all the evidence cited above, a properly instructed, rational group of eight ordinary Iowans<sup>6</sup> from Poweshiek County determined it will take \$4,280,000

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> "[D]ifferent plaintiffs can experience different levels of pain and suffering from similar incidents. A defendant in a tort case 'must take his plaintiff as he finds him,' even if [ ]he is more susceptible to injury than the average person." *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The jury was composed of five men and three women, aged 23 to 79, and included a retired business owner-carpenter, funeral director, farmer truck driver, DHS supervisor, retired electrician, salesperson, assistant underwriter, and retired insurance product analyst. (App I 2916). The trial court said they were "attentive and engaged in the trial process." *Id.* 

to fully compensate Gregg for his past and future emotional harm. Without hesitation, the trial judge agreed. The fact that this verdict may be higher than previous awards may simply mean that Gregg was hurt more than those other plaintiffs. It may also mean that the consensus of the community as to the monetary worth of human anguish is evolving. It may be that we better understand mental health issues like depression and anxiety than we did 20 or 30 years ago. Or it may be that society values civil rights more preciously than it used to.

Because there is substantial evidence to support the jury's decision, the Court should respect and uphold it.

# B. DEFENDANTS HAVE NO EVIDENCE OF PASSION OR PREJUDICE

Defendants argue "[t]he size of the verdict [alone] reveals it is the product of passion or prejudice and the jury's improper desire to punish Defendants." Def. Brief, 78. However, "the fact that a damage award is large does not in itself... indicate that the jury was motivated by improper considerations in arriving at the award." 58 AM. Jur. 2D *New Trial* § 313, at 313 (2002). "In considering the contention the verdict is so excessive as to ... show it is the result of passion and prejudice we must take the evidence in the aspect most favorable to plaintiff which it will reasonably bear." *Townsend v. Mid-Am. Pipeline Co.*, 168 N.W.2d 30, 33 (Iowa 1969).

Gregg was the victim of traumatic events that will affect him for the rest of his life. This case is also exceptional in that Defendants' actions led Gregg to question hundreds of decisions he made for the last 39 years—to the point where he believed his life's work was worthless. A jury of the parties' peers understood that and compensated Gregg accordingly. As discussed above, the jury heard *extensive* evidence about Gregg's emotional pain and the reasons why that pain is so intense and persistent. There is simply no indication that the jury was motivated by anything except their duty to find the truth and do justice.

### IV. THE TRIAL COURT'S EVIDENTIARY DECISIONS WERE SOUND

## A. NOTES REGARDING PLAINTIFF'S EMPLOYMENT WERE PROPERLY ADMITTED

Defendants challenge the admission of cards and notes that coworkers and members of the community sent to Gregg both during and after his employment. Defendants **failed to preserve error** on their unfair prejudice argument because they objected only on grounds of hearsay and relevance. (App. I 1376:8-13).

Defendants based their entire defense on a claim that performance failures plagued Gregg's tenure. Defendants attempted to show Gregg was an incompetent, unresponsive, unmotivated manager, and that the laboratory suffered because he failed to properly supervise employees. The notes and cards in Exhibit 173 rebutted

Defendants' attempts and supplemented the testimony of many witnesses who described Gregg as a skilled, dedicated, and responsive manager.

Defendants also make a broad hearsay objection. However, Defendants fail to identify which portions of Exhibit 173<sup>7</sup> should have been excluded. Without more, Plaintiff cannot respond.

The notes also demonstrated that people throughout the community recognized the lab was integral to Gregg's identity. The fact that he received such an outpouring of support is itself relevant, showing that Exhibit 173 was admissible even without reference to the truth of matters asserted therein, and Defendants failed to ask for any limiting instruction.

### B. PHOTOGRAPHS OF PLAINTIFF WERE PROPERLY ADMITTED

Defendants argue the photographs of Gregg in Exhibit 171, particularly when he was undergoing cancer treatment, inflamed the jury. Defendants **failed to preserve error**, objecting only as to relevance—not under Rule 5.403. *See* App I. 706:5-13, 963:12-964:7, 1197:19-24, 1241:5-13, 1241:20-25, 1249:16-1250:2, 1299:11-19.

57

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Defendants claimed that describing a physician's emotional state as "irate" constituted double hearsay; however, that description was not even an assertion by the physician. *See* IOWA R. EVID. 5.801(a)(1).

In addition, Defendants disputed that Gregg was disabled, so the photographs were relevant to help prove Gregg had an impairment that substantially interfered with his major life activities. *See* Instruction 19 (App. I 2116-2117). This was the context in which Plaintiff's counsel referenced the photos in closing argument. *See* 1998:4-20.

Iowa courts have repeatedly allowed photos to explain or depict facts, regardless of their potentially shocking nature. *See, e.g., State v. Fuhrmann*, 257 N.W.2d 619, 625 (Iowa 1977) (grisly photographs unavoidable given nature of the killing); *Cardamon v. Iowa Lutheran Hosp.*, 128 N.W.2d 226, 231 (Iowa 1964) (photos of decedent throughout his lifetime). "The fact photographs and slides may be gruesome or tend to create sympathy does not render them inadmissible if there is just reason for their admission." *Twyford v. Weber*, 220 N.W.2d 919, 924 (Iowa 1974).

Moreover, this is unlike cases in which the defendant caused the injuries depicted in the photos. No one suggested these Defendants were responsible for Gregg's cancer. It makes no sense for Defendants to argue that the photographs would make the jury want to punish them for Gregg's cancer.

#### C. HOSPITAL NEWSLETTERS WERE PROPERLY ADMITTED

Defendants **failed to preserve error**, objecting only as to relevance—not under Rule 5.403. *See* App. I 555:25-556:8, 1377:12-16.

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